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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
ORLANDO DIVISION

USA and ELIN BAKLID-KUNZ,
Plaintiffs,
V. Case No: 6:09-cv-1002-Orl-31TBS
HALIFAX HOSPITAL MEDICAL
CENTER and HALIFAX STAFFING,
INC.,

Defendants.

ORDER

This matter comesdfore the Court without a hearing on the Motion for Partial Summary
Judgment (Doc. 272) filed by the United States of America (henceforth, the riteomet”), the
response in opposition (Doc. 317) filed by the Defendants, and the reply (Doc. 332) fiteal [by t
Government.

l. Background

Halifax Hospital Medical Center (“Halifax Hospital”) is a special taxing district tha
operates a community hospital of the same name in Volusia County, Florida. (Doc. 277 at 9)
Halifax Staffing, Inc. (“Halifax Staffing”) isan instumentality of Halifax Hospital. Halifax
Staffingemploys the individuals who work fétalifax Hospital Halifax Hospital pays all of the
expenses and obligations of Halifax Staffing, including payroll, either Hirectby transfer of
funds inb Halifax Staffing’s payroll account.

Halifax Staffing enteed into employment agreemenmtgth six medical oncologists: Boomn

Chew, Walter Durkin, Ruby Anne Deveras, Abdul Sorathia, Richard Weiss, and Gfegosy
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(collectively, the “Medical Oncologists”)The employment agreements provided that the Meq
Oncologists would receive a salary and bonuses. (Doc. 277 at 11).

The Medical Oncologists treated patients at Halifax Hospital on both an mtpanhd
outpatient basis andnter alia, ordered or rquested outpatient prescription drugs for th
patients. Whenever one of the Medical Oncologigessonally performed a Medicare
reimbursable procedure, Halifax Hospital would suldmd claims for payment to Medicareone
for the physician’s servicesnd a seconddr the facility fee, which would includéems suchas
providing space and equipment, (Doc. 272 at 9, Doc. 317 &).7 n.

Until March 1, 2007the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (“CH$ie agency]|
within the Department of Hdth and Human Services thatersees Medicare claims processi
required thatlaims for these facility feeBe submitted usingvhat was known aa “Form UB
927; after that dateCMS required thasuch claim®e submitted using &6rm UB-04.”

Both of these forms includefields that requiré the identification of what might bg
thought of as the patient’'s attending physician and, where applicable, the paipsriging
physician, although the titles and descriptions of the pertinent fieladslwamevhat between the
two forms. The fields to be filled out in a Form 9R includel one labeled “Attending Phys
ID,” which was defined in Chapter 25 tfie Medicare Claims Processing Manuilib. 10004
(henceforth, “MCPM")as “the clinician primarily respwible for the care of the patient from t
beginning of the inpatient epide” for inpatient claims and as “the physician that requeste(
surgery, therapy, diagnostic tests or other services” for outpatientsclalrerm UB92 also
includeda field labeled “Other Phys. ID that was to be filled out whenever a proceduves
performed. For inpatient claimie MCPM specified thahis fieldwas to be used to identify th

physician performing the principal procedure or, if no principal procedwes: perbrmed, to
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identify the physician who performed the surgical procedure most closelydr&datiee principal
diagnosis For outpatient claims, the fieldas used to identify the operating physician.
Form UB04 hal a field, labeledAttending,” which the MCPM specified wagquired to

be filled out whenever the “claim/encounter contains any services other than nongth

transportation services,” thatas usal to identify “the individual who has overall responsibility

for the patient's medical care angdtment reported in this claim/encounter.” Another field
Form UB-04, labeled“Operating,” had tobe filled in whenever a surgical procedutedewas
listed on the claimthe MCPM statedhat the fieldwas to baused to identify “the individual with
the primary responsibility for performing the surgical procedure.”

For simplicity’s sake, the remainder of this opinion will refer to physiciangtifce in the
“Attending Phys. ID” field on Form UB2 or in the “Attending” field on Form UB4 as
“attendng physicians.” Similarly, the opinion will refer to physicians identified ie t®ther
Phys. ID” field on Form UBB2 or in the “Operating” field on Form UB4 as “operating
physicians”.

To patrticipate in the Medicare program, Halifax Hospital was required todpeily
submit what is known as a Form CA8S5A. In that form, Halifax Hospital certifigthat it was
complying with all applicable Medicare laws, regulations, and program itisttac and that it
understood that payment of a Medicare claim was conditioned upon such complaiifax
Hospital submitted severaf theseforms during the time frame at issue in this case.

In fiscal year 2005, the Medical Oncologists became eligible to receive a |
(henceforth, the “Incentive Bonusfursuah to the following provision of the employment
agreements:

Compensation [Halifax Staffing] shall pay to Employee as
compensation for services the following:
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c. Beginning with the fiscal year ending September 30, 2005, an
equitable portion of an Incentive Compensation pool which is equal
to 15% of theoperating margirior the Medical Oncology program

as defined by the financial statements produced by the Finance
Department on a quarterly basis. The amount of the incentive
compensation distributed to tliEEmployee shall be determined by
the Medical Oncology Practice Management Group. This
compensation shall be paid annually according to the operating
margin for the fiscal year.

(Doc. 2724 at8-9, 21)* Although Halifax Hospital is a nonprofit entity, tbperating margin for
the Medical Oncology program was in essence what would be recognized in aotteat as

profit — i.e,, the program’s revenue less #gpenses. (Doc. 2728 at 71). In response to &

1N

interrogatory from the Government, the Defendastated that the operating margin for t{he

Medical Oncology prograrwas made up of “revenue and direct expenses from outpatient m
oncology services’and that “[rlevenue consisted of outpatient medical oncology sery
physician services, and reldteutpatient oncology pharmacy charges.” (Doc.-2°& 24). The
Defendants admit that the revenue at issue included fees for services that wezesoally
performed by the Medical Oncologis®ich as fees for services related to the administrafig
chemotherapy. (Doc. 317 at 3).

The IncentiveCompensatiompool was divided between the six Medical Oncologists bd

on each individual oncologist’s personally performed servitetsifax Staffing paid the Incentivg

Bonuses to the Medical Oncologigbr fiscal years 2008008. (Doc. 313 at 3)During this time

frame, Halifax Hospital submitted thousands of clémmms to Medicare in which one or more

! While the quoted language comes from the employment agreement with Walter, Du
the bonus provisions in the agreements with the other Medical Oncologists wasident
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the Medical Oncologists wadentified as an attending physician or an operating physi¢2oc.
272-10 at 54-557.

The Relator, Elin BaklitKunz (“Baklid-Kunz” or the “Relator”) filed thigqui tamaction
on June 16, 200%lleging that the Defendantsinter alia, violated the Stark.aw by billing

Medicare foritems providedas a result of referts from physicianswith whom the Defendants

hadimproper financial relationships(Doc. 1). On October 4, 2011, the Government announhced

that it had elected to intervene as to certdithe Relator'stclaims including her Stark Act clain

involving the Medical Oncologists. By way of the instant motion, the Government seeks

summary judgment as tbe alleged Stark Act violatioms well agelated clains under the Falsg

Claims Act, for unjust enrichment aridr payment by mistakeplus a number ofaffirmative
defensessserted by the Defendants
. Legal Standards

A. Summary Judgment

A party is entitled to summary judgment when the party can show that there is noegenui

issue as to any material fact. Fed.R.Civ.P. 56(c). Which facts are material depetius
substantive law applicable to the easAnderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc477 U.S. 242, 248, 10
S.Ct. 2505, 2510, 91 L.Ed.2d 202 (1986). The moving party bears the burden of showing
genuine issue of material fact existSelotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 323, 106 S.Ct. 254

2553, 91 L.Ed.2d 265 (1986). In determining whether the moving party has satisfied its

the court considers all inferences drawn from the underlying facts intariggt favorable to the

% The claims data referenced by the Gowmeent's expert taletermine the number of

claims submittee@xtends from the beginning of fiscal year 2005 through February 28, 2009 + i.

five months after the end of the last fiscal year in which the Medical Qyistdavere eligible to
receive the Incdive Bonus. As explainedfra, the Government has now conceded for purpos
of this motion that the claims data beyond fiscal year 2008 is not relevant, and besdeunch
claims from its damages calculatio(Doc. 332 at 8 n.5).
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party opposing the motion, and resolves all reasonable doubts against the moving
Anderson477 U.S. at 255, 106 S.Ct. at 2513.

When a party moving for summary judgment points out an absence of evidencg
dispositive issue for which the nonoving party bears the burden of proof at trial, the nonmo
paty must “go beyond the pleadings and by [his] own affidavits, or by the depositionsyautsy

interrogatories, and admissions on file, designate specific facts shdvainthére is a genuin
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issue for trial.” Celotex Corp.477 U.S. at 324, 106 S.Ct. at 2553. Thereafter, summary judgment

is mandated against the nonmoving party who fails to make a showing sufficient tcslests
genuine issue of fact for triald. The party opposing a motion for summary judgment must
on more than conclusory statements or allegations unsupported by Eaeiss v. Gen. Motory
Corp, 770 F.2d 984, 986 (11th Cir. 1985) (“conclusory allegations without specific supp
facts have no probative value”).

The Court must consider all inferences drawn from the Wydgrfacts in a light most
favorable to the party opposing the motion, and resolve all reasonable doubts against tige
party. Anderson 477 U.S. at 255, 106 S.Ct. at 2513. The Court is not, however, requi
accept all of the neamovant’s factubcharacterizations and legal argumenBeal v. Paramount
Pictures Corp. 20 F.3d 454, 458-59 (11th Cir 1994).

B. The Stark.aw

In an effort tocontain health care costs and reduce cosfligtinterest Congress passe

amendments to the Social Securitgt in 1989 and 1993- known as “Stark I” and “Stark II,

3 Stark | and Starki were passed in the wake of several reports suggesting that physi
with a financial interest in referrals tended to provide excess care. For exani@89ithe
Office of the Inspector General of for the Department of Health and Humeiceef‘HHS")
issued the results of a study that found that “patients of referring pmsmaiho own or invest in
independent clinical laboratories received 45% more clinical laboratory setivéaces.. Medicare
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respectively-- that prohibit physicians from referring their Medicare and Medicaid gatien
business entities in which the physicians or their immediate family members haeneial
interest SeePub.L. No. 103239, 103 Stat. 2106 (codified at 42 U.S.C. § 1395nn(a)); Pub.L
103-66, 107 Stat. 312 (codified at 42 U.S.C. § 1395nn(a)).

The Stark Statute establishes the clear rule that the United States
will not pay foritems or services dered by physicians who have
improper financial relationships with a hospital. Violation of the
Stark Statute may also subject the billing entity to exclusion from
participation in federal healthcare programs and various financial
penaltiesSee42 U.S.C. 88 1395nn(g)(3), 1320afa).

United States v. Rogad59 F.Supp.2d 692, 711 (N.D.Ill. 200&¥f'd, 517 F.3d 449 (7th Cir
2008).

Stark | was in effect between January 1, 1992 and December 31, 199%arrdtl
physicians from referring Medicare patierits an entity for clinical laboratory services if tf
physician had prohibitedfinancial relationship with such entity. 42 U.S.C.A. 81395nn(a)(1
(West 1992). Stark 1l became effective on January 1, 1996 expanded the list gbrohibited
referrak to includethe following“designated health service@ienceforth, “DHS”)

(A) Clinical laboratory services.
(B) Physical therapy services.
(C) Occupational therapy services.

(D) Radiology services, including magnetic resonance imaging,
computerized axiglomography scans, and ultrasound services.

(E) Radiation therapy services and supplies.

(F) Durable medical equipment and supplies.

patients in general.” Steven D. Wales, The Stark [Boan or Boondoggle? An Analysis of the
Prohibition on Physician SeReferrals 27 Law & Psychol. Review 1, 5 (2003)ater studies
showed significant increases in referrals by physicians with finantéaests (eithedue to
ownership or receipt of bonuses) for such things as X-rays (16%), physicalythech
rehabilitation (3945%), MRI scans (54%) and CT scans (27%).at 6.
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(G) Parenteral and enteral nutrients, equipment, and supplies.
(H) Prosthetics, orthotics, and prosthetic devices and isgppl
() Home health services.
(J) Outpatient prescription drugs.
(K) Inpatient and outpatient hospital services.
(L) Outpatient speeetanguage pathology services.
42 U.S.C. § 1395r(a)(1), (h)(6)
In pertinent part, the Statkaw provides:

(a) Prohibition of certain referrals
() In general

Except as provided in subsection (b) of this section, if a physician
(or an immediate family member of such physician) has a financial
relationship with an entity specified in paragraph (2), then-

(A) the physician may not make a referral to the entity for the
furnishing of designated health services for which payment
otherwise may be made under this subchapter, and
(B) the entity may not present or cause to be presented a claim under
this subchapter or bill to anydividual, third party payor, or other
entity for designated health services furnished pursuant to a referral
prohibited under subparagraph (A).
42 U.S.C. 8 1395r(a)(1) In addition to prohibiting the hospital from submitting claims under
these circumstances, the Stdraw also prohibits payment by the Medicare program of such
claims: “No payment may be made under this subchapter for a designated health servids Jyhich
provided in violation of subsection (a)(1) of this section.” 42 U.S.C. § 1395nn(g)(1).
The StarkLaw broadly defines “financial relationships” to include an ownershig or
investment interest in an entity or a “compensation arrangemet2 U.S.C. § 1395nn(a)(1).

“Compensation arrangement,” in turn, is defined as “any arrangement involyimgraoneration

between a physician (or an immediate family member of such physician) and tsii edf2




U.S.C. § 1395nn(h)(1)(A). “Remuneration,” with certain exceptions not applicable to theti
case, includetany remuneration, directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly, in casmmddnd.” 42
U.S.C. § 1395nn(h)(1)(B).

“Referral,” for purposes of the Statlaw, is defined as “the request or establishment
plan of care by a physician which includes the provision of designated health sed2cEsS.C.

8 1395nn(h)(5)(A). The regulations interpreting the statute also broadly define “refeasl

among other things, “a request by a physician that includes the provision cdsagyaded health

NSt
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service for which payment may be made under khrei the establishment of a plan of care Jy a

physician that includes the provision of such a designated health service, or thengeotif
recertifying of the need for such a designated health servid2.C.F.R § 411.351A referring
physician is digned in the same regulation as “a physician who makes a referral as definex
section or who directs another person or entity to make a referral or who contros@f@ade to
another person or entity.Id.

If a hospital submits prohibited claims and collects payment, the regulations implem
42 U.S.C. 8§ 1395nn expressly requires that any entity collecting payment fdthecdreaservice
“performed under a prohibited referral must refund all collected amounts orely tasis.” 42
C.F.R. § 411.353(d).

The Stark Law sets forth several exceptions to its broad prohibitiocompensation

arrangementdetween health care entities and referring physicians.avbad the referral and

billing prohibitions in the statute, a hospitafinancial rehtionship with a physician must fall info

one of the exceptionsOne such exception involves what the Stark Law describes as “bon
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employment relationshigs Under this exception, amounts paid by an employer to a phydician

will not be considered e@ompensation arrangemeat purposes of the Stark Latv




(A) the employment is for identifiable services,
(B) the amount of remuneration under the employment —

() is consistent with the fair market value of the services,
and

(i) is not determined ira manner that takes into account
(directly or indirectly) the volume or value of any referrals by the
referring physician,

(C) the remuneration is provided pursuant to an agreement which
would be commercially reasonable even if no referrals were made to
the employer, and

(D) the employment meets such other requirements as the Secretary
may impose by regulation as needed to protect against program or
patient abuse.

42 U.S.C. §1395nn(e)(2).

Once the Government has demonstrated proof of each element of a violatiorStdrihe

Statue, the burden shifts to the defendant to establish that his conduct wa®groyeat safd
harbor or exception. The Governmeaeed not prove, as an element of its case atllafendant’s
conduct does not fit within a safe harbor or exceptidRdgan 459 F.Supp.2dt 715.

The Stark Law does not create its own cause of actibB. ex rel. Drakeford v. Tuomg

Healthcare Systems, In&75 F.3d 394, 396 (4th Cir. 2012) (explaining, in case involving allg

violations of Stark Lawwhy the United States was seeking relief under the False Claims Act).

C. The False Claims Act

The False Claims Act (henceforth, the “FCA3L U.S.C. § 372@t seq, was enacted ir
1863 as a means of combating frauds perpetrated by private contraciogstba Civil War.
VermontAgency of Natural Resircesv. United States ex rebtevens529 U.S. 765, 781, 12

S.Ct. 1858, 146 L.Ed.2d 836 (2000)Seealso Ragsdale v. Rubbermaid, In¢93 F.3d 1235

“See alsdJnited States ex rel. Williams v. NEC Cor@31 F.2d 1493, 1496-98 (11th
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1237 n. 1 (11th Cir.1999) (“The purpose of the [FCA], then and now, is to encourage |

Drivate

individuals who are aware of fraud being perpetrated against the government to umting s

information forward.”) (citation omitted)and seeUnited States ex rel. Williams v. NEC Cgor
931 F.2d 1493, 14968 (11thCir.1991) (tracing history of FCA).

The FCApermits private persons (called “relators”) to file a form of civil@c{known as

qui tam) against, and recover damages on behalf of the United States from, any person whgq:

(1) knowingly presents, or causes be presenteda false or
fraudulent claim for payment or approvir]

(2) knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a false
record or statement to get a false or fraudulent claim paid or
approved by the Government.
31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)-(2) (20p3
To prevailunderthe first of these two sections, a plaintiff must prove three things:

false or fraudulent claim (2) was presented, or caused to be presented, by thentédetitz]

United States for payment or approval (3) with knogkethat the claim was falséJnited States

D

1) a

v. R&F Properties of Lake County, lne33 F.3d 1349, 1355 (11th Cir. 2005). When a violator

of government regulations is ineligible to participate in a government progrdrthat violator
persists in presenting claims for payment that the violator knows the governnesmatoowe,
that violator is liable, under the False Claims Act, for submission of those clMoisutt ex rel.

U.S. v. Haleyville Medical Supplies, Ind23 F.3d 1256, 125¢11th Cir. 2005)(holding that

violation of AntiKickback Statute could form basis for qui tam action under FCA). The violation

Cir.1991) (tracing history of Act).
® The FCA was amended in May 2009 ah@nges were made 3d U.S.C.§ 3729(a)(2);

however, the amended version of 31 U.S.C.8 3729(a)(2) only applies to claims for payntent (suc

as Medicare claims) pending on or after June 7, 26@¢fhper v. Solvay Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
588 F.3d 1318, 1327 n.3 (11th Cir. 2009). The Government does not allege that any of the
Medicare claims at issue here were pending on or after that date, and therefcgeithes pr
version of 31 U.S.C.83729(a)(2) applle=re

-11 -




of the regulations and the corresponding submission of claims for which payrkeaws by the

claimant not to be owed make the claims falsgeuBection31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)ld. See also

U.S. ex rel. Clausen v. Lab. Corp. of A2O0 F.3d 1301, 1311 (11th Cir. 2002) (stating that, in

health care context, FCA liability does not arise from provider's disregar@aovernment
regulations or failure to maintain proper internal policies unless those &mis @bvider to

knowingly ask Government to pay amounts it does not owe.)

Falsely certifying compliance with the Stark Lawconnection with a claim submitted tofa

federally funded insurancerggramis actionable under 31 U.S.C. 83729(a)(2).S. ex rel.

Kosenske v. Carlisle HMA, Inc554 F.3d 88, 94 (3d DCA 2009) (citing case3p establish a

claim under 31 U.S.C. 83729(a)(2), a plaintiff must demonstrate that

(1) a “claim” was presente the government by the defendant, or
the defendant “caused” a third party to submit the “claim,” (2) the
claim was “false or fraudulent,” (3) the defendant presented the
claim knowing it was “false or fraudulent,” and (4) the defendant
made or used a & statement which the defendant knew to be
false, and which was causally connected to the false claim.

U.S. ex rel. Aakhus v. Dyncorp, Int36 F.3d 676, 682-83 (10th Cir. 1998) (citing cases).
For purposes of the FCA, the terms “knowing” and “knowingityan that the perso
either had actual knowledge of the information, acted in deliberate ignorance ofthher tialsity

of the information, or acted in reckless disregard of the truth or falsity of thenaion. 31

=

U.S.C. 83729(l{L)(A). However, proof of intent to defraud need not be shown. 31 U.$.C.

83729(b)(1)(B). The Government must prove all essential elements of an FCA claim, incl
damages, by a preponderance of the evidence. 31 U.S.C. § 3731(d).

D. Payment by Mistake ardnjust Enriciment

In addition to its FCA clainbased on the alleged Stark Law violations, the Governr

has asserted common law claims for payment by mistake and unjust enriclh®aené.g., Unitec

-12 -
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States v. Rockwell Intern. Coy@.95 F.Supp. 1131 (N.D.Ga. 1992) (Government suit undef

FCA, and for relief in equity for unjust enrichment, payment under mistake offattoreach of
contract). Becaus¢hese commoiaw claims involverights of the United States under
nationwide federal program, federal common law govetdsited States v. Kimbell Foods, Ing
440 U.S. 715, 726, 99 S.Ct. 1448, 59 L.Ed.2d 711 (190@parfield Trust Co. v. United State
318 U.S. 363, 366-67, 318 U.S. 744, 63 S.Ct. 573, 87 L.Ed. 838 (1943).

The Government by appropriate actiomncrecoverfunds which its agents hay

wrongfully, erroneously, or illegally paid. No statute is necessary hmané the United States to

sue in such a case. The right to sue is independent of statnited States v. Wurt803 U.S.
414, 415, 58 S.Ct. 637, 638, 82 L.Ed. 932 (193B).prevail on a claim of payment by mistak
the Government must show that it made payments “under an erroneous belief whinhtesal
to the decision to pay.United States v. Mead26 F.2d 118, 124 (9th Cir. 1970).

To prevail on an unjust enrichment theory, the Government must show that (
government had a reasonable expectation of payment; (2) the defendant should reasweg

expected to pay, or (3) “society’s reasonable expectations of person and prepeidy be

defeated by nonpaymentRogan 459 F. Supp. at 728 (citifgrovident Life & Accident Ins. Cd.

v. Waller, 906 F.2d 985, 9994 (4th Cir. 1990) Where disbursement of public funds |i

concerned, the Government is not obligated to show thatethyient wasunjustly enriched o
that the balance of equities otherwise lies in its faviMt. Vernon Ceop Bank v. Gleasqr867

F.2d 289, 291 (1st Cir. 1996).
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1.  Analysis

A. Stark Law Compliance

The Government contends thdtiring the period whernhe Medical Oncologists werg

eligible to receive thdncentive Bonus, the Defendants violated the Stark Lawvsiymitting
Medicare claims resulting from referrals made by the Medical Oncoldgrstiesignated healt|
services The Defendants dispute tlasntention on two grounds. Tibefendants argue that th
compensation arrangement with the Medical Oncologists fit within the Stark xeepteon for
bona fide employment relationships and therefeferrals by te Medical Oncologistsvere not
prohibited by the Stark LaW The Defendants also argue that the Government has fail
produce any evidence that the Medical Oncsliscactually made referralof DHS during the
pertinent time frame.

1. Bona Fide EmploymeiRelationship

e

bd to

It is undisputed thathe Medical Oncologists had a financial relationship with Halifax

Hospital. Because of this, the burden shifts to Halifax Hospital to showhihatompensatior
arrangement with the Medical Oncologists fit within one of $iterk Law’sexceptions. Rogan

459 F.Supp.2d at 715 (N.D.Ill. 2006).Halifax contends that theéMedical Oncologists’

® Because th#ledical Oncologists were employed by Halifax Staffing rather than Hali
Hospital (which submitted the Medicare claims), there is some dispute as tenthet exception
for bona fide employment relationships could apply. In the alternative, tfend2ets have pled
that what is known as the “Indirect Compensation Exceptse€42 C.F.R. § 411.357(p), would
apply to the compensation agreements with the Medical Oncologists. (Doc. 317 Bhd®) are
some distinctions between the two, but to qualify for either exception, the compensaivade

ax

by the physician cannot take into account the value or volume of referrals. 42 C.F.R. 8411357(c)
(p). TheGovernment takes no position as to which of the two exceptions should be assessed, and

the parties agree that the disputed issue is the same under either exdemtiparposes of
summary judgment the Court will adopt the position espoused by the Defendants, Doc. 317
that the exception for bona fide employment relationships isxbeptionthat might apply

-14 -
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compensation arrangement satidfibe exception for bona fide employment relationships, wi
requires a showing that:

(A) the employment is for identifiable services,

(B) the amount of remuneration under the employment —

() is consistent with the fair market value of the services,
and

(i) is not determined in a manner that takes into account
(directly or indirectly) the volume or value of any referrals by the
refering physician,
(C) the remuneration is provided pursuant to an agreement which
would be commercially reasonable even if no referrals were made to
the employer, and
(D) the employment meets such other requirements as the Secretary
may impose by regulatioas needed to protect against program or
patient abuse.

42 U.S.C. 81395nn(e)(2).

The Government contends that the requirements of this exception were not s3g
because théncentive Bonus, and therefore the Medical Oncologists’ remuneration, vased
on referrals for designated health servich®ore particularly, the Government points out ttre
pool from which the Incentive Bonus was drawn was equal to 15 percentagddhtating margin
of the Medical Oncology program, and the program’s reeémiuded fees for designated hea
services such as outpatient prescription drugs and outpatient services not pepsoftaltyed by

the Medical Oncologists. (Doc. 272 at 9). Thusevenue fronreferralsmade by the Medical

Oncologists would flownto thelncentive Bonugpool, andadditionalreferralswould be expected

" Referrals for services that are personally performed by the physicianeagissuot
prohibited by he Stark Law.42 U.S.C. 8§ 1395nn(b)(1).

-15 -
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toincrease thsize of the pool. All other things being equal, this would in turn increase the g

the Incentive Bonus received by the referring Medical Oncol8gist.

ize of

Halifax points out that the requirement in the bona fide employment exception ¢hat th

remuneration not be “determined in a manner that takes into account (directlyrectlgflithe
volume or value of any referrals by the referring physician,” 42 U.S.C. § 139&)(B)(ii), is
itself subject to an exception. The final sentence of 42 U.S.C. § 1395(e)(2) pro\adie

“[s]ubparagraph (B)(ii) shall not prohibit the payment of remuneration in the form

productivity bonus based on services performed personallyhdyphysician (or an immediate

family member of such physician)The Incentive Bonus, the Defendants argue, was just si
bonus, because “it is undisputed the bonus pool was divided up bagedcfnoncologist’s

personally performed services.” (Doc. 317 at 11) (emphasis in original).

s th

of a

ich a

This is not enough tdoring the Incentive Bonus within the bona fide employmient

exception. The Incentive Bonusas not &bonusbased orservices personally perfornielly the

Medical Oncologistsas the exception reqas 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1395(e)(2)Rather,as described by
the Defendantshemselvesthis was a bonughat wasdivided upbased on services persona
performedby the Medical Oncologists. The bonus itself was based on factors in additiof
personally pedrmed services-- including revenue from referralsnade by the Medica

Oncologistsfor DHS. The fact that each oncologist could increase his or her share of the

8 As described ira February 2009nemo fromattorneysetained by Halifax Hospital to
assessvhether the Incentive Bonus complied with the Stark Law, “the bonus nasadgblein
the incentivepool (15% of the operating margin of the medical oncology program) itself woul
vary with the volume and value of each Oncologist’s referrals to the Distniaspital and other
cancer care facilities (Doc. 3135 at 67).

® In the memo referred to in the previous footnote, the authors described the bonus 3
determined “based solely on each Oncologist’s relative personal clmazhiction for thdiscal
year as measured by charges (converted to Medicare rates), and thus thiageroe relative
allocation, did not directly or indirectly take into account the volume or value of arpldgst’s
referrals.” (Doc. 315 at 6).
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pool by personallyperforming more services cannot alter the fact thaistbeof the pool (and
thus the size of each oncologist’s bonus) could beased by making more referrals

During the time period when the Incentive Bonus was being paid, the compen
arrangement between Halifax Staffing and the Medical Oncologists did nisfy séte
requirements for the bona fide employment exceptids.a result, the Medical Oncologists we
prohibited from making referrals to Halifax Hospital for DHS, and Halifagspital was
prohibited from submitting Medicare claims for services furnigh@duant to such referrals. 4
U.S.C. § 1395nn(a)(1).

2. Evidenceof Referralsand Claims

To prove that thdledical Oncologists made such referrals and iHaifax Hospitalmade
claims for services furnished pursuant to such referrals, the Goverrgtieatanthe UB-92 and
UB-04 forms submitted by Halifax HospitalTo that end, the Government retained a datal

expert, lan Dew (“Dew”), to review Medicare claims data for claims submittedHddifax

Hospital and “various other entities”. (Doc. 2¥Q at 53). Dew compiled a database of clainms

with service end dates from October 1, 2004 through February 28, 2009 in which one
Medical Oncologists was identifieats an attending or operating physician on a ForrORBr a
Form UB04. (Doc. 27210 at5354). Dew determined that Halifax Hospital submitted 1,
such claims for inpatient hospital services and 24,097 such claims for outpatierdllsespites
with end dates between October 1, 2004 and February 28, 20@®. 27210 at 5354). Dew
further determined that thesapatient hospital services claims resulted $h1,457,981 in
Medicarereimbursements, artieseoutpatienthospital services clainrgsulted in $19,393,003 i
Medicarereimbursements.Dew also determined that certain thirdtmgs had submitted 19,84

claims with these same end dates where one of the Medical Oncologists had bigeedidsna
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referring physician, resulting in reimbursements of $3,417,683. (Doel@#&2 54). In all, the
claims identified by Dew resulted reimbursements of $34,268,667.

The Defendants do not take issue with Dewedculations their own expert, using th
same parameters, reached essentially identical resylixoc. 3051 at 13). Instead, th
Defendants arguénter alia, that Dew’s numbees are not relevant because the fact tme of the
Medical Oncologistss identified as the attending or “other” physician on a Form92Bor as
attending or operating provider on a Form-08 is not evidence that thphysicgan made the
referralfor which the claim was submittethe prerequisite for a violation of the Stark Lawhe
Defendants contend that the only way to determine the identity of the physician adeotie
referral is to review the patient’s medical records, not a claim form.

It is true that he instructiongor filling out Form UB92 or Form UB04 do not explicitly
require the identification of the physician who made the r&fewvhich the Stark Lawdefinesas
“the request or establishment of a plan of care ... which includes thesiproof designated
health services.”42 U.S.C. 8§ 1395nn(h)(5)(A)To accept the Defendant’'s argumémat these
claims forms aref no evidentiary value, one would have to assumeithattypical caseboth
attending physicians and operating physisianecompletely disconnected froany ‘request or
establishment of a plan of care ... which includes the provision of designated heattass&
The Defendants have pointed to no authority suggestatghe physicianslentified onMedicare
claims forms as filling such roleseano more likely than any other physician to have madg

referral at issue, and this Court’s own research has not uncoveredanthe other handt least

19 Federal Rule of Hdence 401 defines evidence as relevant if it “has any tendency tq
make a fact more or less probable than it would be without the evidence [and] teeofact i
consequence in determining the action.”
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some courts have concluded that physicians identified as attending or operatirggapfysn
Medicare claims forms are referring physicians as a matter of law:

The “attending/operating” physician identified in Boxes 82 and 83
of Form UB92™ qualifies as a referring physician as that term is
defined by the StarfLaw]. ... These manual provisions were
adopted to implement Congréssequirement that the identification
number of referring physicians be reported with claims made to
Medicare. Hospital Manual, Transmittal No. 637, May 1, 1992.

Rogan 459 F. Supp. 2dt 714. Seealso42 U.S.C. § 139%q) (providing that “[e]ach request fo

payment, or bill submitted, for an item or service furnished by an entity fehvgayment may bé

made under this part and for which the entity knows or has reason to believe thbeeas
referral by a referring physician (within the meaning of section 1395ninis title) shall include
the name and unique physician identification number for the referring phy$jciadnd other
courts haveoncludedthatwhere a physician personally panins a service, the resulting facilit
fee is a referral as a matter of law for Stark Act purpéS@iomey Healthcare Systems, Jri&Z5
F.3d at 407. Thus, where one of the Medical Oncologists is identified as the operatiogph
on a Form UB92 ora Form UBO04, that oncologist made a referral as to the facility fee resu
from his or her personally performed services.

Although it is not necessary for purposes of this motiorhodd that every attending or
operatingphysician identified on a Medace claim form is a referring physician as a matte
law, such an identification would appear to fedevant tothat determination. This conclusion
reinforced by the fact that the Defendants have not presented any evidenee clantitary.

Although they do not bear the burden of proof on this issue, and thus have no obliga

1 Box 82 and Box 8are the fieldsabeled‘Attending Phys. ID” and “Other Phys. ID,”
respectivelypn Form UB-92.

12 As noted above, the Defendants have admittatiwhere one of the Medical
Oncologists performed a Medreareimbursable procedure, it would submit one claim for the
oncologist’s services and a second for the facility fee. (Doc. 317 at 7 n.8).
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produce evidence on this point, it would certaibdhoove thento provide, for example, medica
records for particular patients showing that someone otherath@rof the Medical Oncologist
made the referrainderlyinga particular claim, or testimony froemy ofthe Medical Oncologists
to that same endHowever, they have not done so.

Thus the Court concludes thtae claims forms relied on by the Governmard evidenceg

of referralsfor DHS made by the Medical Oncologists during the time period the Incentive B

was in effect, thereby violating the Stark Law. 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1395nn(a)(1). Banhetoken, the

claims forms are evidence that Halifax Hodpgabmitted claims to Medicare for the DH
furnished pursuant to such referrals, also in violation of the Stark Law. 42 U.S.C. § 1395n
The Defendants have not presented any evidence to the contrary. As the Governnukamtts
on this point isundisputed the Government has established that Halifax Hospital violated
Stark Law.
3. Damages

Although the Government has established that a violation of the Stark Act ogcar
genuine issue of material fact remains as to the extent of theiamolatOriginally, the
Government argued that vwas entitled torecover $34,268,667 in Medicare claims that w
improperly submittedand paid in violation of the Stark Law due ttte Medical Oncologists
financial relationshipwith Halifax Hospital (Doc. 27210 at 5455). The Defendants raise
numerous objections to this figure. Among other things, the Defendants argudideticéims
forms rdied on by the Government’s expedaptured services (such as evaluation
management servicetjat did notqualify as DHS (Doc. 317 at 28)The Defendants also argue
that the Government’s total includethims billed on a third type of forma “Form 1500"- that

is only used to bill for personally performpdofessional serviceSthe majority ofwhich arenot
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considered DHS.” (Doc. 317 at 28). In addition, the Defendants argued that the Goverpment’s

expert improperly included claims data for part of fiscal year 2009, alhihegincentive Bonu$

(and thus any potential Stark Law violation) terminatethatend of fiscal year 2008. (Doc. 317

at 3 n.3).

In its reply to the Defendants’ response, the Governmeshiced its expected recove

'y

from $34,268,667 to $27,102,793. (Doc. 332 at 9). In so doing, the Government stated that it wa

accepting, for purposes of the motion, the Defendants’ arguments “on thestitartional (Form

1500) and fiscal year 2009 claims” aadserted thathose claims “were not included in the

damages number reflected in this brief.” (Doc. 332 at 8 nHBWwever, he Government did nojt

include any calculation, so the Court is unable to verify this figure. MoreoveGdhernment

did not addressthe Defendants’ other argumentbout the original figure; instead, the

Government listed those arguments and then listed other documents where those attadrients

supposedly been answered:

The United States fully addressed Halifax's arguments on the
identification of the referring physician on the claims forms, the lack
of any need for a review of the underlying medical records ttaand
relevance of transfer and emergency department patients in its
Motion for Partial Summary Judgment at-19; Opposition to
Halifax’s Motion for Summary Judgment at-18; Motion to
Exclude Donald Moran (Dkt. No. 305) at 4; and Opposition to
Halifax’ Motion to Exclude lan Dew (Dkt. No. 320) at 3-4, 7-9.

(Doc. 332 at 4).Despite diligent effort, the Court is unable to determine whafadhesearguments
are allegedly addressed in whiohthe listeddocumentsand therefore cannot determine whi

party ought to prevail in regard to thernm addition, the Defendants make at least one argumé

that one of the Medical Oncologists did not receive a bonus in fiscal year 2005 and tluengifbiie

not have violated the Stark Atttat year(Doc. 317 at 3} that so far as the Court can discetime

Government does netven claim to have addressed anywhdfer all of these reasons, summg
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judgment as to the extent of the Stark Law violation involving the Medical Oncisleglisbe
denied.

B. False Claims Actpayment by mistake, unjust enrichment

This remaining issue of material fact as to the extent of the Stark Law vidldéorages)
precludes summary judgment in the Government’'s favor on any of the threeeghgamiow
advances- the False Claims Act, payment by taise of fact, or unjust enrichment. Moreov
insofar as the False Claims Act is concerned, the Court finds that a @ésgaue of material fag
remains as to whether the Defendants acted knowingly.

C. Affirmative Defenses

The Defendants have asserted tbllowing affirmative defenses: failure to state a cla
estoppel; waiver; good faith; limitations on damages; fraud with particularibficpgdisclosure;
and exceptions to the Stark Law. (Doc. 112 atl3p By way of the istant motion,the
Government tiacksthe first through third and fifth through seversdfirmative defenses® In
response, the Defendants rely on the arguments raised in their response (Dax tI3d 4 dtion
for summary judgment filed by the Relatohish also attackthese affirmative defenses.

Several of the defenses asserted by the Defendants are not available as a matte
Failure to stata claim upon which relief may be grantgust affirmative defenseand failure to
plead fraud with particularity (sixth affirmative defense) are failusépleading, not affirmative
defenses. The Defendants do nogvendispute the Government's argumenttthize equitable
defenses of estoppel (second affirmative defense) and w#met affirmative defense) are ng

available against the United StatésAnd public disclosuréseventh affirmative defensis)a bar

13n their answer,tte Defendantalso “reserve[d] the right to assert” additional affirmat
defenss. (Doc. 112 at 13). However, thiegve nodone so.
14 . ) . .
In their response to the Relator’'s motion for summary judgment, the Defendanots d
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to an FCA claim brought by a Relator, bubhto an FCA claim asserted by the United States.

U.S.C. § 3730(é¥4) (exempting action brought by Attorney General from public disclosure'bdfr).

The Defendantsfifth affirmative defensetitled “Limitations on Damagg’s consistsof a
single sentence:“The United $ates is precluded from recovering treble damages and
penalties under applicable provisions of law(Doc. 112 at 12). Although the Defendants af
certainly entitled to contest the amount of damages, it is not clear thas @msaffirmative
defense. Nonetheless, given ttied Courthas deferred resolution of the issualafmagegdue to
the unreslved issue of material fact as toe amount & Stark Act violation¥, consideration of
this purported affirmative defense at this point woulgbtsamature.

As their fourth affirmativedefense, the Defendants contend that they actgdod faith.
However,the Defendants did not raise it in opposition to this motion or make any effort to sy
it, and the Court is unaware of any authotitgt would do so.Fnally, although the Governmer
did not specificallyattackthe eighth affimative defensetifled “Exceptions to the Stark L&jas
such theissue raised by that defense has been resolved. Specifically, Defendant€rdrtnaty
the Medical Oncologists’ compensation agreement fits witierbona fide employment exceptig

or the indirect compensation exceptiwas addresseahd rejectedupra

the Relator’'s argument that these defenses are inapplicable to the Relatoss &laivever, they
do not address the Government’s angut, which has a different basis than the Relator’s
argument.

15 Again, the Defendants dispute only the Relator’s argument on this point, not the
Government’s.
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V.  Conclusion

In consideration of the foregoing, it is hereby

ORDERED that the Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (Doc. 27HRANTED IN
PART AND DENIED IN PART, as set forth above.

DONE andORDERED in Orlando, Florida on November 13, 2013.

4GRE(§O‘[QY A. PRESNELL
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

Copies furnished to:

Counsel of Record
Unrepresented Parties
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